RECEIVED

Apr 04 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston County
Court of Common Pleas

Bentley D. Price, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2016-CP-10-05379
Appellate Case No. 2020-001643

The Estate of Delila Parrott,

Respondent,

v.

Sandpiper Independent and Assisted Living-Delaware, LLC,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
D. Jay Davis, Jr. (SC Bar No. 12084)
Matthew O. Riddle (SC Bar No. 76650)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401
P.O. Box 993 (29402)
(843) 720-5488

Attorneys for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the trial court err in failing to recognize that Defendant did not cause Ms. Parrott to suffer a “long lie”—and that at most, it caused an extension of what was already 24-plus hours of a “long lie,” for which, by Plaintiff’s own admission, Defendant bears no responsibility at all—such that the damages awards (for both survival and wrongful death) are wholly undue and speculative or, alternatively, excessive?
- II. With regard to the wrongful death claim in particular, did the trial court err in failing to grant judgment in Defendant’s favor?
- III. Did trial court err in failing to find comparative negligence on the part of Ms. Parrott?
- IV. Did the trial court err in finding that the Daily Check-In created a legal duty of care owed by Defendant to Ms. Parrott?
 - A. Did the trial court err in failing to recognize that the legal relationship between Defendant and Ms. Parrott was simply that of landlord and tenant and governed by the SCRLTA and the terms of Ms. Parrott’s Lease and in failing to recognize Defendant’s rights under the Lease?
 - B. Is the Daily Check-In a *courtesy* service?
 - C. Did the trial court err in finding that the Daily Check-In was a “wellness” check, i.e., that the purpose of the check was to protect Ms. Parrott from the kind of harm Plaintiff complains about in this case, or that Defendant assumed any such duty?
 - D. Did the trial court conflate the threshold question of the existence of a legal duty of care with the question of whether such a duty (once found to exist) was or was not breached, viewing the very existence of the Daily Check-In as establishing the existence of a duty of care on the part of Defendant?

INTRODUCTION

About 8:00 p.m. on Friday, June 6, 2014, Ms. Parrott¹, age 80, was found on the floor of her private apartment in Sandpiper Village, an independent-living retirement community in Mount Pleasant. Her hip “shattered”² from a fall, she had been lying there for some time before being discovered, unable to move. EMS was immediately called to take her to the hospital.

When Ms. Parrott fell is hotly contested, but how she fell is undisputed: She was alone in her apartment, with the door locked, not wearing her panic button,³ standing on a rocker-recliner chair (a “big cushy chair,” a La-Z-Boy or the like, that rocked and reclined) trying to hang curtains (or a curtain rod),⁴ having for some reason decided not only to try to do this herself (as opposed to, for instance, simply taking advantage of the maintenance services included in her lease with Defendant⁵) but also to not tell anyone about it. Even Plaintiff’s⁶ counsel called this “a stupid thing to do.” (R. p. 509:10-11.)

¹ “Ms. Parrott” refers to the late Delila Parrott, the decedent whose estate brought this wrongful death and survival action.

² (R. p. 82:13-18; R. p. 85:2-3.)

³ Wearable as a bracelet or a pendant, a 24-hour emergency call button, or “panic button,” is issued to every Sandpiper Village resident.

⁴ (See R. p. 123:25 - p. 124:21; R. p. 509:4-14; R. p. 1142; R. p. 1160.)

⁵ “Defendant” refers to Defendant/Appellant, Sandpiper Independent and Assisted Living-Delaware, LLC.

⁶ “Plaintiff” refers to Plaintiff/Respondent, The Estate of Delila Parrott.

Ms. Parrott passed away about 8 months after the fall, on February 9, 2015. According to Plaintiff, Ms. Parrott made a full recovery from all of her *physical* injuries, and it was the psychological toll of the “long lie” that doomed her, taking away her will to live.⁷

Contending that the fall happened sometime on the “evening” of Tuesday, June 3, 2014,⁸ Plaintiff claims the negligence of Sandpiper Village staff in not taking action to find Ms. Parrott two days earlier (on Wednesday, June 4, 2014) caused her to suffer two extra days without help and, ultimately, as a result of the addition of these two days to the “long lie,” to lose her life.⁹

⁷ Throughout trial, Plaintiff’s counsel used the term “long lie,” which was said to be “defined by the literature [a]s when an elderly [person] falls and can’t get up for over an hour.” (R. p. 86:11-15.) While recognizing that terminology may vary, Defendant’s counsel would note that they have not located any case law establishing liability, much less liability for wrongful death, that reference Plaintiff’s “long lie” theory, and none were cited by the trial court. (*See* R. pp. 3-19; R. pp. 26-30.)

⁸ (R. p. 366:14-16; R. p. 58 ¶¶ 6-7.) By definition, the word “evening” carries with it a certain imprecision, in that (unlike the word “noon,” for instance) it does not denote any particular hour of the day but rather a general part of the day comprising a number of hours. *See Evening*, Merriam-Webster, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/dictionary/evening> (last visited August 9, 2021) (defining “evening” as (1a) “the latter part and close of the day and early part of the night,” (1b) “*chiefly Southern US and Midland US: AFTERNOON*,” and (1c) “the period from sunset or the evening meal to bedtime.”) (emphasis in original).

⁹ Again, please note that the parties dispute when the fall occurred. Defendant contends it was not until Thursday, June 5, 2014. For present purposes, however, it is sufficient to assume, *arguendo*, it occurred sometime on the “evening” of Tuesday, June 3, 2014, as Plaintiff claims. To be clear, under Plaintiff’s theory, the total length of Ms. Parrott’s “long lie” was three days. Somehow, in announcing its ruling, the trial court was under the belief that Ms. Parrott had “been on the floor in the dark for 5 days,” that “she sat there and survived it for 5 days.” (R. p. 625:21 - p.

It is important to understand just how difficult a needle Plaintiff's theory of Defendant's liability is to thread. First off, Plaintiff, of course, concedes that Defendant bears no responsibility whatsoever for Ms. Parrott's fall or the injuries and pain and suffering it caused. And on top of that, Plaintiff concedes that if Ms. Parrott had been found at 8:00 p.m. on Wednesday, June 4, 2014, instead of at 8:00 p.m. on Friday, June 6, 2014, there would be no case against Defendant at all. (*See* R. p. 84:10-11 (“[I]f [Sandpiper Village staff member] Rebecca [Munoz] had done on Wednesday what she did on Friday, we wouldn't be here today.”).) Thus, under Plaintiff's own theory of the case, Defendant is not only *not* liable for the fall or the injuries and pain and suffering it caused, Defendant is also *not* liable for any damages caused by Ms. Parrott laying on the floor for the first 24-plus hours after the fall.¹⁰

626:18.) Not only is there no evidence that Ms. Parrott's “long lie” lasted five days, there is no contention that it did, as Plaintiff's counsel interjected to explain to the court. (R. p. 626:19.)

¹⁰ Because Plaintiff bears the burden of proof, and because the record does not narrow down the time of the fall any further than to the “evening,” to have any chance of success, Plaintiff's theory of liability must be able to withstand the possibility that the fall occurred at any time during the “evening.” For example, if it is essential to Plaintiff's claim that the fall happened after 7:00 p.m., Plaintiff's claim must fail, because there is no evidence in the record that can reasonably support such a conclusion, and Plaintiff's claim cannot rest on speculation. *The Huffines Co., LLC v. Lockhart*, 365 S.C. 178, 188, 617 S.E.2d 125, 130 (Ct. App. 2005) (“[V]erdicts may not be permitted to rest upon surmise, conjecture, or speculation.”). Thus, sticking with the example of 7:00 p.m. (though, again, Plaintiff's claim must be able to withstand the possibility that the fall occurred earlier in the “evening”), Defendant could not possibly be liable for any damages caused by Ms. Parrott laying on the floor for the first 25 hours after the fall. In other words, and given that, per Plaintiff's theory, a “long lie” starts at one hour after the fall, this means that Ms. Parrott had

As explained below, Plaintiff did not thread the aforementioned needle. But so far, after a non-jury trial where, among other errors, the court even refused to find any comparative negligence at all on the part of Ms. Parrott, Defendant has a \$1,000,000 judgment against it. Most respectfully, this is erroneous and unjust and should be reversed by this Court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff filed this wrongful death and survival action against Defendant on October 11, 2016, in the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas.¹¹ Plaintiff's only theory of liability against Defendant is negligence.¹² As further explained below, Plaintiff claims that Defendant owed Ms. Parrott a duty of care to confirm her wellbeing by making contact with her at least once a day and that this duty was breached when Sandpiper Village staff failed to make contact with her on Wednesday, June 4, 2014, causing her to suffer two extra days without help and,

already suffered more than one whole day of a "long lie" before Defendant's alleged liability is even on the clock.

¹¹ Technically, Plaintiff's original summons and complaint, filed October 11, 2016, are against Premier Senior Living, LLC ("Premier") (R. pp. 31-39), and Plaintiff's amended summons and amended complaint, filed December 21, 2016, substituted Defendant in place of Premier. (R. pp. 40-48.) Plaintiff's operative complaint was filed December 11, 2019. (R. pp. 56-66.)

¹² Although Plaintiff's operative complaint pleads both negligence and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, S.C. Code Ann. §§ 39-5-10 to -180 ("SCUTPA") (*see* R. pp. 57-66), Plaintiff withdrew the SCUTPA cause of action at trial. (R. p. 596:13-15.)

ultimately, by adding these two extra days to her “long lie,” to lose her life. (*See* R. pp. 57-66)

Defendant timely answered, denying its alleged liability and raising a number of affirmative defenses,¹³ and after a period of discovery, the case came on for a non-jury trial before the Honorable Bentley D. Price, which began on September 8, 2020. (*See generally* R. pp. 75-632; R. pp. 653-757.)

At the conclusion of trial on September 10, 2020, having considered the case (and the unusual and unwieldy issues presented in it) for less than an hour, the court announced its ruling from the bench, finding for Plaintiff in the total amount of \$1,000,000—specifically, \$500,000 on the wrongful death claim and another \$500,000 on the survival claim. (R. p. 620:8 - p. 631:16.)¹⁴ A formal order and judgment to this effect were filed/entered on October 16, 2020. (R. pp. 3-25.)

¹³ (R. pp. 49-55; R. pp. 67-74.)

¹⁴ Of additional concern here is that the trial court apparently believed discovery abuse had occurred in the form of Defendant “hid[ing]” a document. For its part, Defendant categorically denies this. The trial court, however, at the same time as it conceded that it could “not say that [any discovery abuse occurred], I can’t prove that,” nonetheless found it to be “probably one of the most telling parts of my decision.” (R. p. 629:11-22.) Where discovery abuse can be established, which, as the trial court conceded, is not the case here, a court has sanctions and other tools at its disposal to address it. But basing a \$1,000,000 award on admittedly unproven speculation about discovery abuse is not one of them. This is another reason the trial court should be reversed.

On October 26, 2020, Defendant timely moved for post-trial/judgment relief pursuant to Rules 41, 50, 52, and/or 59, SCRCF,¹⁵ which motion the trial court heard on November 4, 2020,¹⁶ and denied by order filed November 18, 2020. (R. pp. 26-30.)

By notice served and filed December 17, 2020, this appeal timely follows. (R. pp. 1161-1166.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Independent Living at Sandpiper Village

Sandpiper Village is an *independent*-living retirement community. It is *not* an assisted-living facility, a long-term-care facility, or any other type of regulated care provider. Its residents live in *private* apartments that they rent from Defendant pursuant to a written lease. (See R. p. 413:22 - p. 416:21; R. pp. 1142-1152.)

The Daily Check-In

Although not a term or requirement of the residents' leases, at all relevant times, it was standard practice at Sandpiper Village for staff (i.e., at least one staff member, it did not matter which one: it could be any staff member from any department) to make some sort of contact with every resident every day (the "Daily Check-In").¹⁷

¹⁵ (R. pp. 773-789.)

¹⁶ (R. pp. 633-702.)

¹⁷ The parties disagree about whether the Daily Check-In is properly labeled a "policy," as opposed to something else, like a "practice" or "procedure." Plaintiff says yes, while Defendant says no, as the term "policy" can have a

No particular interaction between staff and resident was required for the Daily Check-In. Indeed, there did not have to be any “interaction” at all. A staff member could speak with the resident (either in person or on the telephone) or even just see the resident (i.e., simply laying eyes on them, without speaking).

A checklist with each resident’s name on it was kept at the reception desk. In the course of a given day, whenever reception staff would make contact with a resident, or they were told that another staff member had done so, they would note it on the checklist. The reception desk closed at 9:00 p.m. Toward the end of the day, if contact had not yet been made with a resident, reception staff would try to contact the resident by phone. If staff could not contact the resident by phone, they would go to the resident’s apartment and knock on the door. If no one answered the door, a master key and copies of every individual apartment key were kept at the reception desk, and staff would then proceed to unlock the door themselves and enter the resident’s apartment.

Ms. Parrott’s Move to Sandpiper Village

Born April 20, 1934, Ms. Parrott had just turned 79 years old when she signed her lease agreement with Defendant on April 26, 2013 (the “Lease” or “Ms. Parrott’s

significance in the regulated-care arena that it does not have in the context of an independent-living community. But in any event, the real question here (in this negligence case) is not what the Daily Check-In should be called but whether it gave rise to a legal duty of care owed by Defendant to Ms. Parrott. And as

Lease”),¹⁸ and she actually moved in to Sandpiper Village about a month after that, in late May of 2013. (See R. p. 112:12-13; R. p. 58 ¶ 4.)

Before that, Ms. Parrott had been living by herself in a townhouse. (R. p. 107:10-12.) The impetus for Ms. Parrott’s move was not that she was having any trouble living on her own but that her daughter Joan Acosta (“Ms. Acosta”),¹⁹ “want[ing] to be proactive” in light of her mother’s age, thought it was a good idea for Ms. Parrott to move a “senior-living type place.” (R. p. 106:16 - p. 107:5.) The particular interest in Sandpiper Village came from Ms. Parrott, as she had some friends who lived there. (R. p. 142:10-14)

Ms. Acosta “wanted to get [Ms. Parrott] in a situation . . . where she was checked every day.” (R. p. 107:6-9.) Although there is no mention of it in the Lease, according to Ms. Acosta, Sandpiper Village Executive Director Corrine Carrington (“Ms. Carrington”) told her and her mother about the Daily Check-In when Ms. Parrott was in the process of deciding whether to move there,²⁰ and to her (Ms. Acosta), the Daily Check-In was of “paramount” importance. (R. p. 107:16 - p. 109:1.)

explained via below, as one of a number of arguments for reversal of the trial court, it did not.

¹⁸ (R. pp. 1142-1152.)

¹⁹ Ms. Acosta is the personal representative of Ms. Parrott’s estate.

²⁰ For her part, Ms. Carrington clearly remembered telling Ms. Acosta about the Daily Check-In, but she did not recall Ms. Parrott being present at the time.

Ultimately, though, it was Mrs. Parrott herself who was the decision maker, and without question, she was fully capable of continuing living independently and wanted to do so at Sandpiper Village. (R. p. 142:10 - p. 143:8.)

Pertinent Terms of Ms. Parrott's Lease

In pertinent part, the Lease provides as follows:

This Lease Agreement (Agreement) explains the responsibilities of all parties.

Once signed by all Parties, this Agreement becomes an enforceable contract. Therefore, if anything in this Agreement is confusing or different from what has been previously explained, you are encouraged to ask for a written explanation and to seek legal counsel before signing.

[Defendant] has agreed and you have accepted to lease Unit number **S6** (Unit). In addition, [Defendant] will provide the following services: (1) two meals per day per each Occupant; (2) weekly housekeeping services; (3) weekly flat laundry service; (4) availability of laundry facilities; (5) water and sewer service; (6) general maintenance service; (7) planned activities—social, cultural, recreational; (8) the services of a social-recreational director; (9) free parking at Sandpiper for one automobile owned or leased by the Occupant; (10) carpeting throughout your Unit excluding kitchen and bathrooms; (11) scheduled local transportation; and (12) a kitchen in the Unit, including stove top and refrigerator.

(R. p. 1142.)

Monthly Service Fee

[Y]ou agree to pay a Monthly Service Fee through the term of your occupancy. This fee includes both rental of your Unit and the services listed above.

(R. p. 1143.)

Limitation of Liability and Personal Property / Rental Insurance

[Defendant] is not responsible for the negligence of its Occupants including acts or omissions that cause injury or death to other persons or damage to property. This includes acts or omissions on the part of Village occupants, guests or invitees. You agree to be responsible, defend, and hold Sandpiper and its owners, managers, officers, employees and agents harmless from and against, any and all claims, damages, suits, actions, judgments, fines, penalties, costs and/or expenses, including attorney's fees and court costs, resulting from any injury to or death of any person and/or any damage to property caused by, resulting from, attributable to, or in any way connected with acts or omissions of or on the part of you as occupant or any of your guests or invitees.

Assumption of Risk

Both [Defendant] and you agree that your freedom to make personal health and non-health related decisions, the freedom to travel, to come and go as you please, the decisions that effect and control your day-to-day activities should all remain within your sole decision so long as it does not adversely affect other occupants. As such, both [Defendant] and you understand and realize that such decision making ability carries an inherent possibility of adversity that may directly or indirectly affect you as

occupant. Therefore, you and your representative, if appropriate, agree to assume such risk and the related consequences and, as it relates to [Defendant] and its agents, officers and assigns, waive any and all liability against such individuals and entities from any and all damages, both direct and indirect, that may result from such activities, the risks and the resulting damages resulting from such activities.

(R. p. 1145.)

Additional Conditions

This Agreement will be binding upon the successor and assigns of [Defendant]. No amendment of this Agreement, other than an increase of the Monthly Service Fee, a change in [Defendant's] posted rules and regulations or a change in the Services to be provided, will be valid unless in writing and executed by [Defendant] and you. [Defendant] may change its posted rules and regulations at any time and at its sole discretion. The invalidity of any restriction, condition, or other provision of this Agreement or any part will not impair or affect in any way the validity of enforceability of the remainder of this Agreement. The Sections above titled "*Limitation of Liability and Personal Property / Rental Insurance*" and "*Assumption of Risk*" . . . , if signed, are all a material part of this Agreement and incorporated by reference herein. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, the terms and conditions of those sections and attachment shall survive the termination, cancelation and/or expiration of this Occupant Admission Agreement.

By signing this Agreement, you are stating and certifying that they have read and understand the foregoing and agree to the terms and conditions of this

Agreement and all posted rules and regulations (which may change from time to time).

(R. pp. 1147-1148.)

The Emergency Response System, a/k/a the “Panic Button”

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