**IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

---

Appeal from Charleston County  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Bentley Price, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2016-CP-10-05379  
Appellate Case No. 2020-001643

---

The Estate of Delila Parrott,

Respondent,

v.

Sandpiper Independent and Assisted Living-Delaware, LLC,

Appellant.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

REEVES AND LYLE, LLC  
Paul L. Reeves (S.C. Bar # 4674)  
Todd R. Lyle (SC # 102308)  
John G. Boswell, *Of Counsel* (S.C. Bar # 778)  
P.O. Box 11126  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
Phone: 803-920-0001  
Fax: 803-929-0927  
Email: Paul@reevesandlyle.com

**ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT**

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

An affirmative legal duty may be created by statute, a contractual relationship, status, property interest, or some other special circumstance. Moreover, it has long been the law that one who assumes to act, even though under no obligation to do so, thereby becomes obligated to act with due care.

638 S.E.2d at 656–57 (citations omitted).

Sandpiper contends that the Trial Court misconstrued the law on creating a duty of care and argues that it owed no duty because it did not create the harm. In one sense, Sandpiper’s argument relies on its attempt to define the harm as Ms. Parrott’s fall. However, the Plaintiff has not alleged any liability against Sandpiper for the fall or her broken hip; rather, the Plaintiff has consistently maintained that Sandpiper’s failure to check on her caused a long lie. In attempting to articulate its contention, Sandpiper misconstrues the Supreme Court’s decision in Degenhart v. Knights of Columbus, 309 S.C. 114, 116, 420 S.E.2d 495, 496 (1992). In that case, the Court stated: “[T]he common law ordinarily imposes no duty on a person to act. Thus, a person usually incurs no liability when he fails to take steps to protect others from harm not created by his own

wrongful conduct.” Id. (citations omitted). However, that decision stands separate and apart from the appellate decisions, including those cited by the Trial Court, that clearly articulate the legal premise that a legal duty of care may be created when an actor assumes a duty by a voluntary undertaking.

The Trial Judge correctly cited to applicable legal principles as laid out in Miller and Madison, and found evidence sufficient to conclude that Sandpiper had established a policy of providing daily wellness checks and that such policy created a duty to follow the protocol established in its own policy:

Here, the preponderance of the evidence presented in this case is more than sufficient to convince me and support my conclusion that that Defendant Sandpiper had a policy of providing daily wellness checks and that this policy created a duty to follow the protocol established in its own policy. Simply put, the Sandpiper had a duty to exercise reasonable care in utilizing the system/protocols it put in place for checking on the well-being of every resident at least once every 24 hours. The policy was in writing, every relevant staff member and every resident was aware of the policy, and the policy had been carried out for several years prior to Ms. Parrott taking up residence at Sandpiper’s facility. In addition, Ms. Parrott relied on that policy as a significant/decisive factor in selecting Sandpiper as a residence. Both the existence of the policy and the special relationship between Sandpiper and the resident, Ms. Parrott, created a duty owed by Sandpiper to follow its own policy. [R.p. 013; Order p. 11.]

To the extent that the existence of the duty owed by Sandpiper particular depends on the particular facts of this case then the existence of a duty became a mixed question of law and fact to be resolved by the Trial Judge as the fact-finder, and his findings must be sustained because they are supported by the evidence as discussed below.

**B. The evidence of record supports the Trial Judge’s finding that Sandpiper owed a duty to Resident/Delila Parrot to conduct a daily check.**

It appears necessary to first clarify the use of the use of the word “wellness” as an adjective to describe the nature/scope of legal duty owed by Sandpiper to Ms. Parrott. Contrary to Sandpiper’s contentions, Plaintiff did not allege that Sandpiper had a duty to ensure the general

safety of its residents or to monitor their health. [*See generally* R.pp. 319:16-320:1; Trial Day 2 Tr. pp. 53:16-54:1.] Nor did Plaintiff allege that Sandpiper had any duty to protect Mrs. Parrott from the fall or seek any damages incurred from the broken hip.<sup>7</sup> It is clear from Finding of Fact #11, that the Trial Judge understood the “daily wellness check” policy as it was documented in the written document and as explained in the testimony of the Sandpiper employees.

The document created and produced by Sandpiper specifically delineates a mandatory process that: “All residents *must* be seen by staff and initialed off every day. If you do not see someone call them, if you can’t get them on the phone, got to the apartment and check on them.” (Emphasis added.) [R.pp. 1135-1140; Pl. Ex. 1 Policy 001-006.] Another Sandpiper employee (Munoz) further admitted in her trial testimony that: “There was a policy at Sandpiper where you and other staff people would visually confirm the presence or the *wellbeing* or just the fact that a resident was there and okay on a daily basis....” (Emphasis added.) [R.p. 275:1-7; Trial Day 2 Tr. p. 9: 1-7.] Sandpiper’s executive director (Carrington) testified that the goal of the policy was to confirm visually the *wellbeing* of residents such as Ms. Parrott. [R.pp.158:24-159:17; Trial Day 1 Tr. pp. 84:24-85:17; *see also* R.pp. 166:6-167:12; Trial Day 1 Tr. pp. 92:6-93:12.] This evidence fully supports the Trial Judge finding as to the existence of a daily check-in policy and the specific procedures established by Sandpiper to confirm each resident’s wellbeing once every 24 hours.

---

<sup>7</sup> To the extent that Sandpiper tries to argue that the assumption of risk clause of the lease should act as an absolute defense, Plaintiff is not seeking to hold Sandpiper for her decision to hang her curtains without wearing her panic button. That clause does not apply to the duty Sandpiper undertook -- apart from its contractual obligations as defined in the lease -- to check on her once a daily. As discussed in the section on Sandpiper’s comparative negligence defense, while the resident’s lived “independently” and made they own life decisions, the daily check policy was supposed to provide a type of safety net whereby the Sandpiper staff could arrange for assistance if/when the residents fell or suffered injury and could not activate their panic button.

Beyond contesting the existence and nature of the policy, Sandpiper complains that the Trial Judge erred in failing to recognize that its only relationship with Ms. Parrott was as landlord-tenant and that the lease exclusively defined its limited duties/obligations to Ms. Parrott. Sandpiper further argues it had no obligation to conduct daily check-ins because it was a courtesy service upon which no legal duty can be founded to support a negligence action. It is Sandpiper, however, that refuses to acknowledge that the existence of a lease/rental agreement does not -- as a matter of law -- negate the creation or assumption of a legal duty based on other facts and/or special circumstances under the legal precedent as set forth in Miller and Madison and other cases that address the creation of a legal duty of care beyond or apart from the terms of a contractual agreement. *See Wright v. PRG Real Est. Mgmt., Inc.*, 426 S.C. 202, 219, 826 S.E.2d 285, 294 (2019) (discussing analysis of how landlord may undertake/assume a duty to provide security to tenants of apartment complex).<sup>8</sup>

The Supreme Court's decision in Wright v. PRG Real Est. Mgmt., Inc. supports the Trial Judge's analysis of the legal duty issue on several significant points. In that case, a tenant who had been kidnapped in her apartment complex sued her landlord and the apartment managers for negligence in failing to provide security service. The Court discussed the general rule that a landlord has no common law duty to provide security to protect tenants from criminal acts of third parties, but further discussed the legal theory upon which a landlord could be held liable in

---

<sup>8</sup> In a comparable case decided in Illinois, a nightclub employee sued his employer for negligence for failing to discover him when he was unconscious in his car in the nightclub's parking lot and was not discovered until the next day. Applying the theory of voluntary undertaking, the Court held that a legal duty was created by virtue of the employer establishing a courtesy patrol to patrol its parking lot and adopting written duties and responsibilities for the patrol. Urbas v. Saintco, Inc., 264 Ill. App. 3d 111, 115, 636 N.E.2d 1214, 1217 (1994). Comparably, Sandpiper established a daily check-in policy (which it marketed to prospective tenants) and adopted a written procedure to accomplish the check-ins.

negligence if the landlord undertakes to provide security measures – at least to the extent of the landlord's undertaking.

The Court's opinion in Wright is of particular interest on the point of the Court's focus on the evidence relevant to the existence of a duty of care. The Court explicitly stated that the defendant's representations to the plaintiff was a probative fact: "[W]e must examine the question of the existence of a duty of care with a focus upon the undertaking as it was described to Wright [tenant]." 826 S.E.2d at 294. As recounted by the Court in that case, the plaintiff/tenant testified that during her search for an apartment home, one of the important factors was security, and when she entered the lease with the defendant/landlord, the manager had informed her that there were security officers on duty; and she further testified that she entered into the lease with that expectation. While contesting that any representations had been made about security, the landlord conceded at oral argument, that the plaintiff/tenant had been told that there were security officers. Of note, the Court expressly considered the evidence that the plaintiff/tenant relied upon that representation in choosing to lease with the defendant/landlord. Evidence was presented (on a motion for summary judgment) that the landlord had a courtesy officer program allowing residents affiliated with law enforcement to receive reduced rent in exchange for certain limited services under terms of independent contract agreements, but the tenants were not apprised on the limited extent of the security measures. At the time of the abduction, there were no security officers under contract (and that there had not been any for the prior two months), and again the tenants had not informed of the total absence of security during that time.

The *Wright* Court held, as noted above, that the legal question of whether a duty arises may be fact-specific, and as a consequence, "the existence of a duty becomes a mixed question of law and fact to be resolved by the fact finder." 826 S.E.2d at 290. On that standard, the Court

ultimately held that the evidence created genuine issues of material fact requiring that Wright's claim be submitted to a jury as the fact finders.

This case is on appeal from a judgment rendered after trial on the merits in which the Trial Judge was the fact finder, and thus his findings are subject to review on the any evidence standard. In striking parallels to the facts in Wright, there is testimony as to the representations about the daily check in policy made to Ms. Parrott during her inquiries about leasing at Sandpiper, and there also is testimony as to Ms. Parrott's reliance on that representation in entering into a lease with Sandpiper. The evidence, created a question of fact as to whether Sandpiper undertook/assumed a duty to make daily checks, and that evidence supports the Trial Judge's finding that Sandpiper did voluntarily undertake a duty to provide daily checks under the procedure as described to Ms. Parrott and documented in Sandpiper's policy.

**C. The evidence of record supports the Trial Court's finding that Sandpiper breached the duty owed to Ms. Parrott by failing to conduct a check on June 4 and 5th.**

The Trial Judge found that Sandpiper breached its own policy on June 4th and June 5th:

Sandpiper breached the policy when the staffer did not make the minimal effort to obtain the correct key to check on Ms. Parrott on June 4th. Sandpiper further breached the policy when no staffer checked on her on June 5th. At the time Sandpiper finally checked on her on June 6th at approximately 8 p.m., it had been approximately 68 hours since Ms. Parrott that been seen by anyone. Simply put, I find and conclude that the Sandpiper's failure to follow its own policy resulted in the Defendant breaching its duty owed to Ms. Parrott. [R.p. 014; Order p. 12.]

In a one paragraph argument, Sandpiper contends that the Trial Judge ignored the testimony of its expert (Brian Lancenese) that the industry standard for responding to falls was the panic button or emergency call button system and that a daily check system was not used in the industry to respond to falls or otherwise check on the well-being of residents. Respondent respectfully submits that this issue should be deemed abandoned. Brouwer v. Sisters of Charity

Providence Hosps., 409 S.C. 514, 520, 763 S.E.2d 200, 203 (2014) (an issue is not preserved for review on appeal where argument on a point is point is conclusory and is not supported by any authority); Eaddy v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp., 355 S.C. 154, 164, 584 S.E.2d 390, 396 (Ct. App. 2003) (“short, conclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not preserved for our review”). However, the argument is also not supported by the law or the record.

First, the Trial Judge did mention that Sandpiper had presented testimony of its expert Brian Lancenese, an expert in assisted living facilities. [R.p. 005; Order p. 3.] The fact that the Trial Judge did not summarize or analyze that expert testimony in his order(s) does not justify reversing the Trial Judge’s judgment. Although a trial judge’s findings of fact are reviewed under the same “any evidence” standard as applies to jury findings, the trial judge sitting nonjury is required to “find the facts specially and state separately its conclusions of law thereon.” Rule 52(a), SCRPC. However, Rule 52 does not require a trial judge sitting nonjury to set out detailed findings on all the myriad factual questions arising in a particular case, the findings need only “be sufficient to allow this Court, sitting in its appellate capacity, to ensure the law is faithfully executed below.” Mathis v. Brown & Brown of S.C., Inc., 389 S.C. 299, 320, 698 S.E.2d 773, 784 (2010). Nor does Rule 52 require the trial judge to explain his weighing of the evidence presented on each element. *See* Epperly v. Epperly, 312 S.C. 411, 414, 440 S.E.2d 884, 886 (1994) (trial court findings were adequate to review order where it contained a succinct statement that evidence was insufficient to prove an element).

Sandpiper’s expert (Lancenese), a licensed skilled nursing administrator in Virginia, was qualified as “an expert in the expert senior living, and skilled as it applies to nursing administrator.” [R.p568:13-18; Trial Day 3 Tr. p. 134:13-18.] As described by Sandpiper, the expert testified that

“the industry standard for responding to falls was the panic button or emergency call button system and that a daily check system was not used in the industry to respond to falls or otherwise check on the well-being of residents.” [Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 35.] However, the expert, in fact, testified that daily check sheets are a standard in independent living facilities, although he insisted that they are not set in place as safety mechanism, but that they are only intended to help the staff monitor activities:

Q. Now, from your prospective, one of the arguments in this case is that this created a duty to check daily the wellbeing and ultimate safety of every resident every day. From your prospective, as an expert in the industry, is that what the daily check system was ever designed for?

A. So in each community it may be a little bit different. But in general an independent living daily check sheets are in place for the staff to -- a lot of times monitor activities. It's not typically set in place as a safety mechanism. [R.p. 575:11-16; Trial Day 3 Tr. p. 141:11-16.]

Again, such testimony and Sandpiper’s slanted argument about its significance misses the mark because, as discussed above, Plaintiff has not argued that the daily check-in policy/procedure was intended to ensure the ultimate health and safety of the residents.

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